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REPORT ON UNCLAIMED LANDS NORTH OF NWN.

Dr Bill Day

Anthropologist, P.N.T.S., Tom Price.

1.Introduction

In a published article, Jidi Jidi Corporation member and Yulga Jinna resident, Michelle Riley, states: ‘The Nharnuwangga, Wajarri and Ngarla people are three language groups. Our country is in the Upper Gascoyne region of Western Australia, about 700 kilometres from Perth. The three language groups came together in 1995 to lodge our claim with the Aboriginal Legal Service’ (Riley 2002:2). Michelle continues: ‘On August 29 2000, Justice Madgwick made an order that our people had native title in our claim area.’ An ILUA was registered on 5 July 2001 (Riley 2002:3; see also Flanagan 2002:5-12). 

The Nharnuwangga, Wajarri and Ngarlawangga determination did not include all the areas within the original NWN claim. Pingandy station, Prairie Downs, Bulloo Downs and areas adjoining the Collier Range National Park were excluded from the agreement made between the NWN claimants and pastoralists. There is also an area of unclaimed crown land (UCL) north of the NWN claim. At Yulga Jinna on February 18, 2002, members of the NWN group discussed lodging a new claim over these unclaimed areas.
Subsequently, a memorandum from the Principal Legal Officer dated 6 February 2003 was received in the Tom Price office of PNTS in June 2003. The memorandum asks:

· How many claims should be lodged over the unclaimed areas? 

· If there should be more than one, what should the boundaries of the claims be? 

· What is the appropriate claim group description(s) for the claim(s)?  Please   describe the work you undertake to identify the full native title claim group(s) through documentary and genealogical research.
The research towards answering the above questions has been done over the past 18 months, with delays to assess native title court decisions made during that period. Research suggests that that there should be at least two claims over the unclaimed areas, with some adjustment of boundaries. The recommendations of this research are listed in more detail in section nine. In the next section a brief background of the new claim is given to place this report in context. While the ethnographic research is inevitably incomplete, the following section suggests that the rights of the potential claimants are entitled to some priority. 
2.Background

The memorandum regarding the unclaimed area continues:

We are required to facilitate and assist the research and preparation of native title claims if we are requested to do so. The YMBBMAC has been requested to perform the anthropological and legal work required to lodge a native title claim over the unclaimed areas of land by Dinny Tumbler. The YMBBBMAC agreed to provide this assistance in 2001.  

Dinny Tumbler is an elder of the Ngarlawonga language group and his application for assistance states that it is on behalf of the ‘Ngarla’ people (see Appendix V). However, the memorandum cited above continues with a claim group description of the NWN claim, presumably assuming that Dinny Tumbler’s application was on their behalf. 
The Jidi Jidi Governing Committee agenda, as printed and circulated at the Yulga Jinna meeting on Monday February 18, 2002, stated:

The Yamatji Land and Sea Council recently agreed to provide assistance to lodge a new claim over an area to the north of the Nharnuwangga Wajarri and Ngarlawangga claim [see Appendix V]. It includes vacant crown land, as well as Prairie Downs and Bulloo Downs stations. These stations were previously part of the Nharnuwangga Wajarri and Ngarla claim, but were taken out of the claim just before determination because the pastoralists on these stations did not agree to the terms of the consent determination.

The area is currently unclaimed. It is extremely important that a claim is lodged over the area as soon as possible because there is a large mining project called Hope Downs that will, in part, fall within the unclaimed area. The major parts of the Hope downs project are on other claims, however there are some tenements that have been applied for that are on the unclaimed land. Hope Downs have agreed to negotiate with the traditional owners of the land, but only if a claim is lodged there soon. If there is no claim lodged, the traditional owners of this land will not have any procedural rights over the project and will miss out on any benefits that they may be entitled to for the community.

For this reason it is essential that a claim is lodged as quickly as possible. The YLSC will be conducting research in the near future to make sure that the claim is brought on behalf of the right people for the land.

Following the above decision to prepare a new claim, I was instructed by Nic Green to gather information from the ALS NWN claim files held in the Perth office of YLSC. I trawled through these files for two days in early March, 2002. I attended many other community meetings conducted by YLSC at Yulga Jinna in 2002 and 2003, usually driving down from Tom Price with NWN members as passengers. I used my visits to Yulga Jinna to interview elders Gladys Leake and Clarrie Smith who live in the community. Affidavits from Ngarlawonga elders Clarrie Smith, Gladys Leake, Dinny Tumbler and Albert Smith were prepared from these interviews (see Appendix I).

To complete these affidavits on country and clarify details, on March 11 and 12, 2002, Dinny Tumbler, his son-in-law Darren Injie and myself drove from Paraburdoo through Turee Creek station and Prairie Downs station, across to Newman. We then drove back to Tom Price through the unclaimed vacant Crown land area (UCL). It was a hurried fieldtrip, with photographs and tape recordings made as we travelled, which contributed to Dinny’s affidavit (see Appendix I and attached email photographs).

It was June 2003 before I first sighted the application for assistance made on behalf of the Ngarla (sic) people. Prior to June, the Ngarlawonga group appeared unaware that an application for assistance had been made on their behalf. The agenda cited above describes the assistance as being for the NWN group, to which all the Ngarlawonga belong. To my recall, Dinny did not mention he had made an application and was unaware that it was his application to YMBBMAC which had been successful. A copy of Dinny’s application for assistance is attached to this report as Appendix V. The application was signed on October 2001, before I started working for PNTS in November, 2001. Presumably, this is the application referred to at the NWN meeting on February 18, 2002.

Item two, headed ‘Research on new claims’, of the circulated minutes of the Jidi Jidi Corporation meeting held at Yulga Jinna on 13 and 14 May 2002 states:

Nic Green confirmed that the PNTS received instructions at the last meeting to lodge two new claims. Bill Day recently took statement from people about the new claim areas and was currently in the process of preparing affidavits. It was agreed that the claim to the north of NWN should be lodged as soon as possible. 

The unsigned statements from four Ngarlawonga people within the NWN group, referred to in the minutes cited above, are attached to this report (Appendix I). According to item five on the agenda of the Jidi Jidi Governing committee meeting held at Yulga Jinna on 17 June 2002, ‘Affidavits and a claim application form have been prepared for the claim to the north of NWN and will need to be reviewed.’ (See the statements in Appendix I of this report).

Two months later, after the Ward decision shifted the goalposts, the circulated agenda for the Jidi Jidi Corporation meeting on August 21, 2002, which I attended, stated in item seven: ‘Affidavits and a claim application form have been prepared for the claim to the north of NWN. Frances will talk about the final steps that need to occur before the claim is lodged.’

As a result of my previous research, YMBBMAC had gone so far as to have claim maps printed in several sizes by DOLA in March 2002 (see A4 size, Map 1). These maps originally included the Marymia ‘space’ to the east of the claim as part of the ‘NWN #1’ claim. 

The minutes of the PNTS Pilbara Work Targets Meeting held on April 9, 2003 state in regard to Hope Downs:

It was agreed that there should be a report to HDMS, advising them that, in order to meet their requirements for certainty about who are the right people to negotiate with, we need to do intensive research.  The most appropriate and effect way of undertaking such research is to have an employee living in Tom Price for six-months - the work cannot not be properly undertaken by a fly-in consultant.  Nick Green probably would not be suitable to take on the position, as he is taking a co-ordinating role, however he would probably be able to recommend someone for the position.  The employee could also conduct research into the NWN#1 ‘space’, as it is an area covered by the HDMS project. 

The Minutes state, under the heading ‘NWN claim’: ‘Frances advised that no progress had been made since the last meeting. Frances still to provide brief to Bill to do preliminary anthropological work about the structure of the claim, in light of the change in law of YY.’ 

However, the Ngarlawonga group received recognition at the meeting, as the minutes note:

Helen agreed to email outcomes of the internal meeting to the relevant people.  Confirmed that the summit will occur on 30 April –1 May and Tony Lee can attend…

Helen proposed there be a two-day meeting with all of the groups in Paraburdoo.  

The following groups are involved:

· Innowonga

· IBN

· MIB

· GMY

· PKKP

· Jurruru

· Nyiyaparli

· Palyku

· Ngarlawongga [my emphasis]

The new claim was again reviewed in light of the Yorta Yorta decision. The memorandum dated 6 February, 2003 was sent to me by email in June, 2003, with a faxed copy of the ‘Application for Assistance’ dated June 10, 2003 (Appendix V). 

In late August, the Ngarlawonga group was invited to attended a two-day Pilbara Central Negotiating Team Meeting in Tom Price to formulate a ‘Pilbara Regional Development Agreement’. As a result, Ngarlawonga elder Dinny Tumbler was one of the 36 elders who signed a letter to Rio Tinto Limited, beginning, ‘We are the traditional owners of the Pilbara area of Western Australia immediately affected by Rio Tinto’s mining operations.’
 
As related above, my research originally considered the claim to be made over the unclaimed areas as the ‘NWN #1’ claim, as distinct from the original NWN claim. In the native title determination of Judge Madgwick, the three groups were found to have native title over the area of the claim prepared by ALS, excluding the areas in question in this report. The ALS had amassed considerable historical and ethnographical research from 1995 to 2000.
 However, my research indicates that the claim boundaries were artificial, and did not reflect the traditional boundaries of the Ngarlawonga group. The Ngarlawonga group emphasises that not all Ngarlawonga lands are contained within the NWN claim boundaries and this is supported by field trips, historical research and previous anthropological research (see Brandenstein 1966; Tindale 1974).

Considering the above background of the unclaimed area, the unassisted efforts of the Ngarlawonga people described in this report, the likelihood of future acts in the area and the rapid progress of the ‘Pilbara Regional Development Agreement,’ I believe the claimants are entitled to have their interests expedited. My research consistently finds that the Ngarlawonga group consider themselves to be the appropriate society to lodge a claim over the unclaimed areas shown in Map1, in addition to a smaller area above the Gobawarrah Minduarra Yinhawanga (GMY) claim (Maps 1 and 3) and that the Ngarlawonga people are recognised by the adjoining Innawonga, Jurruru, Banyjima and Nyiyaparli elders as the rightful traditional owners of the unclaimed area and other areas surrounding the unclaimed areas. 

3.The Ngarlawonga group
After the Ngarlawonga group expressed interest in pursuing their interests in all their traditional lands, including that within NWN,
 I met with about nine members of the Ngarlawonga group at the home of Maisie Hyland in Onslow (Photographs 1a and 1b). As a result of discussions at the Onslow meeting I emailed Jeremy Ryan on 23 September: 

Representatives of the Ngarlawonga people met in Onslow on Thursday, September 19, 2002 and decided that they would like to be represented at meetings between the GMY group and Innawonga group. The request is based on their interest in the eastern section of the GMY claim, presently outside the Innawonga claim. Any resolution would need to involve the Ngarlawonga people. I believe that many of them are entitled to attend as Innawonga claimants anyway.

At that time the group was not aware that an application for assistance had been submitted to the Yamatji Barna Baba Maaja Aboriginal Corporation. Only incidental assistance was provided, in the form of Ngarla elders accompanying me in the PNTS vehicle from Tom Price to the meeting. 

On Monday, May 19, 2003, Albert Smith, Dinny Tumbler, Norman Hyland and Bill Day drove down the Ashburton Downs-Meekatharra road, through what they described as Ngarlawonga country, for two days of meetings at Yulga Jinna (see photograph 4). At Yulga Jinna, I discussed the possibility of a separate Ngarlawonga claim with Gladys Leake. On May 21, we returned via the Great Northern Highway through Newman and the UCL. However, the unclaimed area was not on the Jidi Jidi meeting agenda on this occasion.

Several of the ‘NWN’ elders with a history of shared work experience with Nhanuwonga and Wajarri people on stations had passed away and most remaining the Ngarlawonga people had settled in either Tom Price, Paraburdoo and Onslow which made travelling to Yulga Jinna for meetings difficult. Yulga Jinna is also outside Ngarlawonga country and some members felt uncomfortable there. As one young Ngarlawonga man said to me, when asked to attend a NWN meeting, ‘I don’t know those people [at Yulga Jinna].’ For these and other reasons, the ties of the ‘N’ to the ‘NW’ had weakened since the NWN claim was begun in 1995. The Onslow meeting also appeared to me to be further evidence of the self-identity of the Ngarlawonga as a society. 

On August 7, 2003, a meeting of Ngarlawonga representatives at the PNTS office in Tom Price considered the above list of names of people who identify and are accepted as Ngarlawonga. The list was later read to Maisie Hyland, Adam Standard and Dinny Tumbler who were not at the August 7 meeting. The names are from the Ngarlawonga genealogy prepared by myself from interviews and checked by Ngarlawonga members  group at meetings. (Appendix II). Others who may be entitled to be on a Ngarlawonga claim, if they so identify at a later date, are presently listed on either the Innawonga or GMY claim through descent from a parent or grandparent and were therefore not included as claimants. The list does not include children.

I visited Clarrie Smith in Royal Perth Hospital on two occasions on July 18 and 20, 2003 to seek his opinion on a separate Ngarlawonga claim. He stated that his mother and grandmother were Nhanuwonga from Peak Hill, to the south of Ngarlawonga traditional lands. He was not well enough to talk at length on the matter, but previously he has identified as Ngarlawonga and is respected as a Ngarlawonga elder by all the claimants.

4. What is the appropriate claim group description(s) for the claim(s)?

The following Ngarlawonga people are claimants who identify as members of the Ngarlawonga community, are accepted as such by the Ngarlawonga community, adhere to the laws, customs and traditions of the Ngarlawonga people and are descended from one or more of the following:

Dinny Tumbler, Michelle Hubert, Adam Standard, Clarrie Smith, Lennard Smith, Gladys Leake, Lizzie Clarke, Albert Smith, Clarence Smith, Dianne Smith, Raylene Smith, Tadgee Limerick, Dianne Limerick, Joseph Limerick, Willy Chubby, Matthew Limerick, Anthony Limerick, Donald Limerick, Kelman Limerick, Tanya Limerick, Maisie Hyland, Narissa Hubert, April Hyland, Norman Hyland, Michael Hyland, Anthony Hyland, Megan Hyland, Charlie Hyland, Stephen Hyland, Peter Limerick, Ruth Limerick, Celeste Hubert, Damien Hubert, Daniel Limerick, Jane Hyland, Jason Hyland, Kendrick James, Kenneth Hyland, Lionel Hyland, Monica Waters, Norma James, Scott James, Simone Hubert, Trevina Hicks.

Being descendants of: 

Ruby, Maggie aka Bardagara, Monkey, Jerry Hyland, Duck aka Munggurdu, Topsy Kuni aka Gurndrir, Mount Vernon Henry and Kuniba.

As such they maintain the following rights:

(1) The right to possess, occupy, use and enjoy the area as against the world. 

(2) A right to occupy the area;

(3) A right to use the area;

(4) A right to enjoy the area;

(5) A right to be present on or within the area;

(6) A right to be present on or within the area in connection with the society's economic life;

(7) A right to be present on or within the area in connection with the society's religious life;

(8) A right to be present on or within the area in connection with the society's cultural life;

(9) A right to hunt in the area;

(10) A right to fish in the area;

(11) A right to make decisions about the use of the area by members of the Aboriginal society to which the native title claim group belong;

(12) A right to make decisions about the use of the area by persons who are not members of the Aboriginal society to which the native title claim group belong;

 (13) A right to make decisions about the enjoyment of the area by members of the Aboriginal society to which the native title claim group belong;

 (14) A right to make decisions about the enjoyment of the area by persons who are not members of the Aboriginal society to which the native title claim group belong;

(15) A right of access to the area;

(16) A right to live within the area;

(17) A right to reside in the area;

(18) A right to erect shelters upon or within the area;

(19) A right to camp upon or within the area;

(20) A right to move about the area;

(21) A right to engage in cultural activities within the area;

(22) A right to conduct ceremonies within the area;

(23) A right to participate in ceremonies within the area;

(24) A right to hold meetings within the area;

(25) A right to participate in meetings within the area;

(26) A right to teach as to the physical attributes of the area;

(27) A right to teach as to the significant attributes of the area;

(28) A right to teach upon the area as to the significant attributes of the area;

(29) A right to teach as to the significant attributes within the area of the Aboriginal society connected to the area in accordance with its laws and customs;

(30) A right to control access of others to the area. 

(32) A right to take resources, other than minerals and petroleum, used for sustenance from the area;

 (33) A right to take resources, other than minerals and petroleum, used for sustenance within the area;  

 (34) A right to gather resources, other than minerals and petroleum, used for sustenance within the area;

(35) A right to use and/or enjoy resources, other than minerals and petroleum, for sustenance within the area;

(36) A right to use and/or enjoy resources, other than minerals and petroleum, for food, on, in or within the area;

(37) A right to use and/or enjoy resources, other than minerals and petroleum, for shelter, on, in or within the area;

38) A right to use and/or enjoy resources, other than minerals and petroleum, for healing on, in or within the area;

 (39) A right to use and/or enjoy resources, other than minerals and petroleum, for decoration on, in or within the area;

 (40) A right to use and/or enjoy resources, other than minerals and petroleum, for social purposes on, in or within the area;

(41) A right to use and/or enjoy resources, other than minerals and petroleum. for cultural, religious, spiritual, ceremonial and/or ritual purposes on, in or within the area;

(42) A right to take fauna;

(43) A right to take flora (including timber);

(44) A right to take soil;

(45) A right to take sand;

(46) A right to take stone and/or flint;

(47) A right to take clay;

(48) A right to take gravel;

(49) A right to take ochre;

(50) A right to take water;

(51) A right to control the taking, use and enjoyment by others of the resources of the area, including for the said purposes (set out at sub-paragraphs (32) - (41) above) and/or in the said form (set out at sub-paragraphs (42) - (50) above), other than minerals and petroleum and any resource taken in exercise of a statutory right or common law right, including the public right to fish;

(53) A right to receive a portion of the said resources (other than minerals and petroleum) taken by other persons who are members of the Aboriginal society from the area;

 (55) A right, in relation to any activity occurring on the area, to

i. maintain,

ii. conserve; and/or

iii. protect 

significant places and objects located within the area, by preventing, by all reasonable lawful means, any activity which may injure, desecrate, damage, destroy, alter or misuse any such place or object;

(56) A right, in relation to any activity occurring on the area, to -

i. maintain

ii. conserve; and/or

iii. protect

significant ceremonies, artworks, song cycles, narratives, beliefs or practices by preventing, by all reasonable lawful means any activity occurring on the area which may injure, desecrate, damage, destroy, alter or misuse any such ceremony, artwork, song cycle, narrative, belief or practice; 

(57) A right, in relation to a use of the area or an activity within the area, to:

(i) prevent any use or activity which is unauthorised in accordance with traditional laws and customs

(ii) prevent any use or activity which is inappropriate in accordance with traditional laws and customs in relation to significant places and objects within the area or ceremonies, artworks, song cycles, narratives, beliefs or practices carried out within the area by all reasonable lawful means, including by the native title holders providing all relevant persons by all reasonable means with information as to such uses and activities, provided that such persons are able to comply with the requirements of those traditional laws and customs while engaging in reasonable use of the area and are not thereby prevented from exercising any statutory or common law rights to which that person may be entitled;

 (59) A right of individual members of the native title holding group or groups to be identified and acknowledged, in accordance with the traditional laws adhered to and traditional customs observed by the group or groups, as the holders of native title rights in relation to the land and waters of the area; 

(60) A right of the group or groups who hold common or group native title rights and interests to identify and acknowledge individual members of the native title holding group, in accordance with the traditional laws adhered to and traditional customs observed by the group or groups, as the holders of native title rights in relation to the land and waters of the area.

5. How many claims should there be?

· The Ngarlawonga group have apparent connection to Pingandy Station, the area of Unallocated Crown land (UCL), a section of Turee Creek Station, Prairie Downs abutting the Nyiyaparli claim (WC99/004) and the northern part of Bulloo Downs, south to the Ashburton River (Map 1). The Ngarlawonga boundary also reaches to the range of hills south of the proposed Banyjima claim (Map 3). The sections of Ngarlawonga country (described above) are connected through the group’s interests in the northern part of the NWN determination, which is the drainage basin of the Pingandy, Angelo and Ashburton Rivers. 

· Small southern sections of Mininer station between the Innawonga and NWN claims show as unclaimed areas on some maps and, if so, should be added to the Ngarlawonga claim. 

· A small section of the UCL is said to belong within Banyjima country. That is, the MIB boundary moves slightly south to follow a range of hills, rather than the present straight line (as agreed at the MIB-Nyiyaparli meeting and subsequent Ngarlawonga meeting). The Nyiyaparli claimants may argue that their boundary should be moved to the west into the UCL to cover Manna Wanna spring and engravings.

· The unclaimed area to the south of the Ashburton River (Map1) is within the Ngaanyatjarra Land Council and would be of interest to Nhanuwangga people who live at Yulga Jinna and elsewhere, mostly around Meekatharra. I have no information as to the traditional owners of these areas and know of no potential claimants in the Pilbara representative region. 

Since the Ward and Yorta Yorta decisions, a combined claim with Nhanuwonga and Wajarri which would not be not based on Ngarlawonga traditional boundaries, may not be defendable. Also, as explained above, an ‘NWN #1’ claim is not desired by the Ngarlawonga group. Therefore, if a Ngarlawonga claim is accepted, there would be two main claims over the unclaimed areas - one north and one south of the Ashburton River. In addition, there would need to be a slight realignment of boundaries, as described above. A further Ngarlawonga claim will need to be made over a small section of the devolved IBN claim (Map 3). The Ngarlawonga group also maintain that they have rights over the eastern section of the GMY claim.

Because a large part of their traditional lands are within the NWN claim as determined, the Ngarlawonga group listed above state that they wish to continue to be members of the NWN prescribed body corporate.  

The evidence of Ngarlawonga boundaries comes from anthropological studies, particularly Brandenstein (see also Appendix III), Ngarlwonga elders and the evidence from adjoining tribes, namely Jurruru, Banyjima, Innawonga and Nyiyaparli.

6. What should the boundaries of the claim(s) be?
6.1 The eastern boundary

On June 16, 1999, the anthropologist, Dr Mana Waite, met with Banyjima, Ngarlawonga, Innawonga and Nyiyaparli elders at Giles Point at the western tip of the Ophthalmia ranges to discuss boundaries between the four groups. Jigalong elders also attended.
 Those who were present claim that the elders agreed that Giles Point was the eastern boundary for Ngarlawonga country.
 The previous day there was a meeting at Alfred Carney’s old station on Spearhole Creek near the Nyiyaparli boundary  (photograph 5). Previously (February 8, 1999), this site was described as the boundary
 and a senior Banyjima elder described Western Creek as ‘half Ngarla and half Nyiyaparli’.
 On the March 11 fieldtrip, Dinny told me, ‘[At Spearhole Creek] old people used to camp here for holiday before Newman, wild potato all through this area, just past Carney’s you come to Nyiyaparli country. Gordon Yuline told me that’s where our boundary is.’

Ngarlawonga representatives were invited to the Central Pilbara ‘Educational Forum’ in Paraburdoo on April 30 and May 1, 2003, to discuss their place in a restructuring of native title claim boundaries. The Ngarlawonga acted as observers and later discussed their position together when the meeting broke up into three groups (see photograph 2). Ngarlawonga people then asked to met separately at the PNTS office in Tom Price on May 2, 2003. 

On May 3, Maisie Hyland, Narissa Hubert, Albert Smith and Dinny Tumbler accompanied me along the bitumen to the Unallocated Crown Land (UCL) between Mount Robinson and Giles Point and returned to Tom Price the same day. We stopped at Giles Point and Dinny was able to point out landmarks to the south towards Prairie Downs and Spearhole Creek (photograph 3). Dinny and other Ngarlawonga people have been conducting heritage surveys around Giles Point for Hamersley Iron for some years. 

The purpose of the May 3 fieldtrip was to show the claimants where the boundaries of the unclaimed area are on the ground (Photograph 3) and find out how this corresponds with traditional boundaries. Notably, the group on the fieldtrip with me would not go into Wanna Manna Springs near the eastern boundary of the UCL area where there are many rock engravings, until they had spoken to elders from other groups, such as Nyiyaparli elder, Gordon Yuline. Gordon has told me he thought Wanna Munna Spring, near the highway a few kilometres inside the unclaimed area, was in the Nyiyaparli claim.

6.2 The Innawonga-Ngarla boundary

On June 19, 2003, I drove Dinny Tumbler from Paraburdoo to clarify how claim boundaries shown on maps relate to traditional Ngarlawonga boundaries in the southern parts of the unclaimed area. Firstly, we drove to Divide Windmill which is the most easily accessible point close to the junction of Innawonga, GMY and NWN claims at the foot of the low range of hills recognised by Innawonga and Ngarlawonga as the boundary between the two groups (see blue line on Maps 7, 7b). As Dinny said, ‘You go over the other side, water overflows into Innawonga side, [at] Numaratta - Divide Windmill whitefellas call it - water falls this way. We [Ngarla] got our boundary follow that range.’ 

At Innawonga claimants meetings when combining the Innawonga (WC98/069) and GMY ((WC99/013) overlapping claims was discussed, Innawonga claimants have repeatedly said, ‘We won’t claim other peoples’ country’ – meaning that the Innawonga people recognise the eastern boundary of their claim as the line where Ngarlawonga country begins (see Maps 7 and 7b), confirming Dinny’s statement, as above. (Note: Ngarlawonga people insist that the GMY claim overlaps Ngarla country from Numaratta [Divide Mill] ). 

From this point Dinny and I continued through the NWN claim parallel to the Kunderong Range to Turee Creek homestead. The NWN boundary appears to have been a political compromise based on what the anthropologists who prepared the report call ‘regional polity’. As Dinny says, ‘They cut a piece of Ngarla out when they took that [gas] pipeline through the middle of Ngarla.’ Dinny is referring to an agreement between NWN and the GMY elders that they would come so far and the other would ‘take over’ from there. As a result, the NWN dissects not only Ngarla, but Nhunuwonga and Wajarri traditional lands.

Dinny and I continued through the northern area of the NWN claim, to Jamie Bore (Map 10) close to the meeting point of NWN, GMY and the unclaimed area of vacant Crown Land north of NWN. Dinny asserted that the land to the north, including the GMY is Ngarlawonga. He had worked with old Ngarla people who had told him this was Ngarla country, which extended across to Spearhole Creek, as related on the earlier fieldtrip. The next day we drove back to Turee Creek station homestead, and met with the owners, Bruce and Susan Maguire. Bruce has known Dinny and his family since childhood. We then returned to Tom Price through Turee Creek station and the Karijini National Park.

6.3 The northern boundary of Ngarlawonga country

A meeting on July 1, 2003, of IBN Banyjima and Innawonga working groups discussed the southern boundary of Milyuranpa Banyjima (Top End Banyjima) outside the National Park. The southern boundary of the Milyuranpa Banyjima country, as mapped by a respected Innawonga elder, now deceased, with Innawonga and Banyjima elders and the National Native Title Tribunal, follows a range of hills running west from Mount Robinson and The Governor. The two working groups agreed that an area south of the proposed Milyuranpa Banyjima claim and to the north of the GMY claim is Ngarlawonga country Map 3). 

The Innawonga group accepted that the land south of the IBN/ Milyuranpa Banyjima proposed boundary was probably Ngarlawonga country, except perhaps a small section at the eastern edge of the national park (see Map 3) to link up with the existing Innawonga claim (WC98/069). The meeting then resolved to ask the Ngarlawonga group which was due to met in Tom Price on the following Friday, July 4, to consider their native title rights over the ‘space’ south of Milyuranpa Banyjima, north of GMY (WC97/043) and east of the national park (Map 3).

On Friday, July 4, a Ngarlawonga meeting at the Tom Price office of PNTS, attended by Bill Day, Slim Parker, Adam Standard, Michael Hyland, Narissa Hubert, Maisie Hyland and Dinny Tumbler, studied the maps used at the above combined Innawonga/IBN working group meeting (Photograph 5). To ensure that the Ngarlawonga elders had a clear understanding about which range of hills the proposed Milyuranpa Banyjima boundary follows, the Ngarlawonga meeting resolved that elders should travel to the area in question, via the West Angelas railway line access road.

To ensure the elders understood the boundaries we were studying on the maps, on the following Monday, July 7, 2003, I drove Dinny Tumbler, Tadgee Hyland and Adam Standard to the ranges shown on Map 3, where the railway line to West Angelas cuts through. We then continued along the railway line to the IBN (WC96/061) - GMY (WC97/043) boundary. The Ngarlawonga elders agreed that the area south of the Milyuranpa Banyjima suggested boundary is traditionally Ngarlawonga country, as part of the Idabiddy/Turee Creek River system  (Photographs 6 and 7).

The northern boundary of Ngarlawonga country is supported by the respected Innawonga and Banyjima elders who were consulted when the above maps were plotted and endorsed at the combined Working Group meeting on July 1, 2003. An earlier map drawn by the late Horace Parker, is also marked ‘Ngala’ by him, south of Banyjima country. In addition, the Ngarlawonga group claim their traditional country continues through that part of the GMY area (WC97/043), which is to the east and not overlapping the Innawonga claim (WC98/069).

Concerning the UCL area north of the NWN determination, on July 29, 2003, the MIB working group and elders, in a combined meeting with Nyiyaparli to discuss their shared boundary, proposed that the MIB southern boundary intrudes into the UCL along the line of hills shown on Map 9, with the additional MIB lands shaded orange (Map 9). On August 7, the Ngarlawonga meeting agreed that their northern boundary follows these hills past Mount Robinson to the Governor and along the line of hills as show in Map 3. Therefore, a small but significant section of the UCL discussed in this report should be added to the MIB claim, according to evidence from Banyjima elders.

6.4 The southern boundary
Norman Tindale (1974) draws the Ngarlawonga boundary around the headwaters of the Ashburton River, Bulloo Downs south almost to Three Rivers homestead and up to Mount Vernon and Angelo River, to include Tunnel Creek draining into the Ashburton from the north (see also Map 6). However, Brandenstein (1967), who worked in the area in the 1960s, marks the ‘Ngala-Warnga’ boundary as ‘fairly certain’ following the headwaters of the Ashburton River from Mount Vernon, past Bulloo Downs homestead (Maps 2a, 2b). The southern limit of Ngarlawonga country as shown on Maps 4 and 5 was confirmed by Dinny Tumbler.

6.5 Pingandy station unclaimed area

So far, there is little evidence to connect Ngarlawonga to Pingandy Station unclaimed area. At the Paraburdoo meeting, Jurruru elder Toby Smirke stated that the Jurruru claim southern boundary through Pingandy was the boundary with Ngarlawonga. The station was once owned by an Wajarri man, Captain Scott and was considered the traditional country of Vernon Hyland. He had no children and ‘passed on’ his rights to the sons of Tadgee Limerick (nee Hyland).

7. Requirements of proof.

Ngarlawonga claimants are united by observance of traditional laws and customs. Historical and oral evidence (see Appendix III) shows a custom of shared ceremonies at Turee Creek, Weeli Wolli Creek, Bulloo Downs and along the Ashburton River. The Ngarlawonga people remain within this culture block, using law grounds at Cane River (near Onslow), Wakathuni and Bellary (near Tom Price and Paraburdoo). They and neighbouring groups are aware of boundaries and the traditional rights within these boundaries (see Appendix I). 

Ngarlawonga elders have a distinct language which identifies them as Ngarlawonga people. Ngarlawonga people mentioned in historical evidence are ancestors of the claimants (see Appendix III). Their descendants maintained connection to their land as workers on pastoral stations and by joining the homeland movement when groups returned from the coast where they had retreated after work on the pastoral industry all but ceased. I am satisfied that further fieldwork would confirm the rights and interests listed in Section 3 of this report.

8. Other claims which may have an interest in the unclaimed areas. 

As related above, the NWN group originally claimed much of the unclaimed area, which was excluded from the determination in August 2000, when the relevant stations refused to enter into an agreement. Extensive research was done by the Aboriginal Legal Service with NWN claimants, including the present Ngarlawonga group listed above.
 However, the NWN borders were based on what the researchers called a ‘regional polity’ which had the effect of dividing both traditional Ngarlawonga and Nhanuwonga/Wajarri lands, with some of their country inside NWN and some outside (note the Nhanuwonga claimants’ interest in the Marymia ‘space’ area.
 

At Yulga Jinna, Linda Riley has often expressed the sentiment that ‘We put this claim in together and we are one group.’ Within the confines of the native title laws, this position is difficult to defend today. However, the NWN group will obviously have to be consulted in formulating the new claims and the southern boundaries of any Ngarlawonga claim.

 As outlined above, it is significant that the Ngarlawonga western, northern and eastern borders have been recognised by neighbouring Jurruru, Innawonga, Banyjima and Nyiyaparli elders – in particular Toby Smirke, Nicholas Cook, and Gordon Yuline respectively, plus deceased elders, Horace Parker (Banyjima) and Chubby Jones (Innawonga). Gladys Leake and her family at Yulga Jinna have expressed an interest in being part of a Ngarlawonga claim. Clarrie Smith and his son Leonard’s family identify more with the Nhanuwanga group but are accepted as Ngarlawonga. 

Although there was extensive consultation when the NWN claim was made, the boundary of the Nyiyaparli claim may need to be revised. For example, Nyiyaparli claimants expressed surprise that Wanna Munna Springs are not inside the Nyiyaparli claim and the Ngarlawonga group was reluctant to visit the springs (see Map 9).

The GMY group may claim to have an interest in the IBN area north of their claim, although this is not supported by my research.

9. Recommendations

As suggested above, the Ngarlawonga group belong to a central Pilbara culture block and share the system of laws and customs common to the region. They also view themselves as a distinct group within that culture block with acknowledged connection to Pingandy, Turee Creek, Prairie Downs and part of Bulloo Downs and are recognised as such by other members of the culture block - the Innawonga, Banyjima and Nyiyparli people. The Ngarlawonga will not speak for other people’s country and other groups say that they defer to Ngarlawonga people in reference to Ngarlawonga country. 

The Ngarlawonga people have maintained their rights and interests in land up to and including the NWN claim, surveys for the gas pipeline through Prairie Downs, heritage surveys at Giles Point and around West Angelas. They continue to hunt, gather food and access the area to the best of their ability. For historical reasons, none of the claimants live on the land in question and ceremonies have been held off-country in recent years.

· The Ngarlawonga group should be assisted to lodge a claim over the unclaimed areas, south to the Ashburton River and north over the UCL area to the range of hills forming the proposed border with MIB (Map 9). 

· The Ngaanyatjarra Land Council should prepare the claim over land south of the Ashburton River.

· Because of their interest in the area south of the proposed Banyjima claim, the Ngarlawonga working group should be involved in any combined meetings to discuss the break up of the IBN claim. 

· The Ngarlawonga and Nyiyaparli group should meet to confirm the eastern boundaries.

· The Ngarlawonga group should be financially assisted to meet with other NWN members and legal representatives to discuss this proposal.
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APPENDIX I

Affidavits prepared by W B Day in 2002 with Dinny Tumbler, Clarrie Smith, Albert Smith and Gladys Leake (not signed).

A) Statement by Dinny Tumbler

1 I have been shown a map of the Nharnuwangga, Wajari and Ngarlawangga number one claim areas. I am a senior Nharnuwangga Wajarri and Ngarlawangga elder and I can speak for the claim areas. 
2 In 1999, as a senior claimant for the first Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga native title claim I gave evidence on country to Judge Madgwick of the Federal Court about the traditional laws and customs observed by the Nharnuwangga Wajarri and Ngarlawangga people on Prairie Downs, Bulloo Downs Pingandy and Kumarina Stations.

3 My Ngarlawangga name is Mijirinburna. I was born ‘bush way’ at Mijirinburna Pool on Tunnel Creek in Nharnuwangga, Wajari and Ngarlawangga country in about 1936.

4  My grandfather Munggudi, also known as Duck, was a senior Aboriginal Law man across the Nharnuwangga, Wajari and Ngarlawangga number one native title claim areas. My grandmother’s second husband was Bardie, the brother of Nharnuwangga, Wajari and Ngarlawangga elders Clarrie Smith and Daji Hyland who also speak for the Nharnuwangga, Wajari and Ngarlawangga number one native title claim areas. 

5 All my family spoke Ngarlawangga. I also speak the Nharnuwangga and Wajari languages which are the traditional languages of the Nharnuwangga and Wajari number one claim area.

6 My father, Bunardu, or Tumbler, worked at Turee Creek for a long time. My stepfather, Bingamarra, known as Billy Leake or Brumby Billy, reared me up.  

7 Billy Leake was a respected Law man across the Nharnuwangga, Wajari and Ngarlawangga number one claim areas. He was the head stockman at Turee Creek after Duck until 1959 and died in 1998 aged about 98. He taught me the boundaries of the Nharnuwangga, Wajari and Ngarlawangga country and the traditional names of hills and springs.

8  I married a daughter of my uncle Djungai. My skin is banaga. Later I married a Banyjima woman and had a daughter, Michelle, who identifies as Ngarlawangga. 

9 My mother, grandmother and aunty used to come out mustering cleanskins with us up past Spearhole Creek, around Giles Point in the Ophthalmia Ranges and as far as Weeli Wolli Creek and down past Mount Robinson and the Governor in the northern part of the claim area. We would collect bush tucker while we were mustering. Wanna murra is Ngarlawangga for the seeds we gather to make flour. That’s why that area around Giles Point is called Wanna Munna Flats on the map. 

10 I am recognised as an elder who speaks for this area. This is why I am often asked to travel through this claim area with other Nharnuwangga, Wajarri and Ngarlawangga people doing heritage surveys for mining exploration.

11 On Prairie Downs, Bulloo Downs and Pingandy stations, we were out bush sleeping under bough shades or on the ground for seven or eight months at a time. At holiday time we would go camping and sometimes have a big meeting with different tribes.

12 In the claim area there is plenty of monguru (kangaroo), wanna murra, kulyu, bandagora (bush turkey) and marandu (goannas). We also use jilan, the ti tree leaves, for medicine. 

13 Kulyu, or wild potato, grows in the claim areas. We have dances and songs make the kulyu plants grow.

14 As a traditional owner, it is my responsibility to look after the springs and keep them clear. The Nharnuwangga Wajari and Ngarlawangga people blow water and speak to the walu (snake) in Ngarla language so that the walu will recognise our scent and not harm us.

15 There are songlines which cross the claim area from Weeli Wolli, past Giles Point to a hill on Prairie Downs I can show you, and down to the Kunderong Ranges. The songs are like a book which start from one side and go across. Our Law is written in the country. I can’t tell you much about what the songlines say because that country around the northern claim area is a bit strict.

16 In Nharnuwangga, Wajari and Ngarlawangga Law, I have the right to use and look after the land within the boundaries of Nharnuwangga, Wajari and Ngarlawangga traditional lands of the claim area, including Pingandy, the northern area past Mount Robinson and across to Giles Point, or Wunmunga, through Prairie Downs, Bulloo Downs and down past the Collier Ranges.

17 At meetings of the Nharnuwangga, Wajari, Ngarlawangga, Niapaili, Banyjima and Innawonga people, they respect me as a senior Ngarlawangga man who knows the boundaries of traditional Nharnuwangga, Wajari and Ngarlawangga country and can speak for the country of my ancestors where I was born and spent most of my life.

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Statement by Albert Smith

1 I have been shown a map of the Nharnuwangga Wajarri and Ngarlawangga number one claim areas. I am recognized as a senior Lawman in the claim areas. 

2 In 1999, as a senior claimant for the first Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga native title claim I gave evidence on country to Judge Madgwick of the Federal Court about the traditional laws and customs observed by the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga people on Prairie Downs, Bulloo Downs and Pingandy stations. 

3 Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga people also observe the same traditional laws and customs in the area north of Prairie Downs station, up to Mount Robinson, Weeli Wolli Creek and south back to Giles Point and Spearhole Creek. My mother and grandparents told me that this area is also traditional Ngarlawangga country.

4 I have responsibilities for places like Bunbun in the Pingandy area in the western section of the native title claim. When my uncle Vernon Hyland died, he had no children so he passed that land on to me and his nephews.

5 In the northern area of the Nharnuwangga Wajari and Ngarlawangga number one claim area there are many white gums or gadaberang which have honey we call jandarru. We eat the yellow part, gunamungu, too. We leave some of that so the little native bees, smaller than a fly, will come back and make more honey. In the Bulloo Downs and Kumarina section of the claim we dig for honey ants. It is good country for emu eggs and goanna. Bush tucker is better for us because it is our traditional food, has no chemicals and is healthy for us.

6 I was born on Mount Clere station on 5 August 1952 in the Nharnuwangga Wajari and Ngarlawangga WAG 0072/98 claim area.  My mother, Amy Leake, is a Ngarlawangga person who lived and worked on stations in the claim areas. I learnt Ngarla language from my mother and grandparents. 

7 My father, Djungai, taught me songs and dances for the country in the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim area. My father worked for my old uncle, Captain Scott who owned Pingandy station. Djungai was born on Rocklea station. His father was an Innawonga man and his grandmother was Old Kitty. She was a Nharnuwangga woman.

8 I often went to Bulloo Downs, Prairie Downs and Pingandy Stations with my mother and when I visited my father and uncle.  We also went to those places for Law meetings.  My mother and father showed me how to dig for kulyu or bush potato, chase guramandu (sand goanna). The Wajari name for them is goyal. I learned to hunt for kangaroos and bungaras and look for gum, bimba, which is like a lolly we find on trees. In the area around Ophthalmia ranges there is a green tree, gandiyangu, or mustard tree, which is good for sore throat or toothache if we chew the leaf or the bark. At Prairie Downs station, Bulloo Downs, Pingandy  and south of the Collier Range National Park we boil up a little bush called bergungmu and use it for medicine. Right through the claim areas there is cogula, like a little green pear which we get from a creeper.

9 My father’s brother, Clarrie Smith, of Yulga Jinna Community also reared me up. Clarrie tells me a lot of things, about the Law, stories about the claim areas, what’s right and what’s wrong, and how to look after the country in the claim areas. 

10 When I was younger, I was working at Prairie Downs station with my old grandfather Brumby Billy Leake, or Bingamurra. He lived to be about 98 years old.

11 My father didn’t want me running around causing trouble so he said to put me through the law so I can follow his footsteps. I went through the Law at Cane River near Onslow.

12 Going through the Law gives me rights and responsibilities as an initiated man for country in the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim areas.

13 I just talk for my ancestors’ areas – I can’t talk for other peoples’ area – you have to be careful where you put your footsteps.

14 Now the old people are finished, my uncle Clarrie Smith wants me to be an elder. It is my job to tell people right place, wrong place, where there might be danger in Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga country. Some places only a man who has gone through the Law, like me or Clarrie or Dinny, can go there.

15 One place is Julununya on Prairie Downs and there is a little place on Prairie Downs, a hill not far from the house, where only initiated men can go. That is one reason I have been asked to go on surveys in the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim areas, so I can warn people who want to go there.
16 The Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga people respect me as an elder who can speak for the areas on the map which I have been shown of the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim.

___________________________________________________________________

Statement by Clarrie Smith

1. I am a senior Lawman in the claim area and I am authorised to make this affidavit on behalf on the other applicants and as representative of the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga people. 

2.  In 1999, as a senior claimant for the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga native title claim, I gave evidence to Judge Madgwick of the Federal Court at court hearings in our claim areas about the traditional laws and customs observed by the Nharnuwangga Wajari and Ngarlawangga People on Prairie Downs, Bulloo Downs and Pingandy stations. 

3. I am also consulted in Aboriginal site surveys like for the Gas Pipeline which cuts through Prairie Downs and Bulloo Downs in the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim area. I told them not to go through the springs and to springs and to avoid the artefacts on the ground. I know where these places are right through the claim areas. There are a lot of atefacts through Collier Ranges and into the claim area to the south of the ranges.

4. I live at Yulga Jinna Community and Mulgul station on Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga traditional lands. We want to live on our traditional country, not in town. 

5. I lived and worked most of my life on stations in the area of the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim at Prairie Downs for about two years, Bulloo Downs for six years and many other stations as well and over to Pingandy. 

6. When we were not allowed to have guns or hunting dogs at Bulloo Downs we caught kangaroos with a snare or spear or by smearing ourselves with mud and lying in the water trough, then grabbing one leg of the kangaroo when it came to drink.

7. I am a Lawman at Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga Law camps on Pingandy across the claimed area on Bulloo Downs, Prairie Downs, Turee Creek area and also Mount Vernon, Peak Hill and Landor and many other places. 

8. From when I was about 12 until I was about 19 I was put through Aboriginal Law.  This was in the period after Christmas, when the station owners let us go to wherever we wanted to go, and we catch up with other Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga people and others, hold dances and conduct ceremonies on our traditional lands.

9. At a pool we call Bunbun on Pingandy Station, in the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim area, people used to come across for big ceremony meetings. This is a beautiful area where you can still see where the people used to camp. There are plenty of fish there. There wasn’t a windmill there, just a spring. Pingandy Springs is just above where the station is now. The meetings were held before the station was there. That area is important to us.

10. Old people used to tell me about our country. When we were working station to station the old people show us the boundaries of our land. We are not allowed to cut a tree, dig a soak on another mob’s land. They showed us the hills and creeks where the boundary starts when we get into different people’s country. When we cross into other people’s country we can’t even pick up a stone or build a bough shed there.

11. A few years back we had a meeting with neighbouring tribes at Giles Point, a place which is on the eastern boundary of the northern part of the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim which the Ngarla people call Wunmunga. I told them about that country right to Weeli Wolli. All the elders at the meeting agreed with the boundary which is now the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim area. 

12. We chuck sand to blind the walu snake, or blow water. Singing out when we coming near a grave. Or when we getting close, we get a mug full of water and blow it out. That way the walu can get your scent. If you don’t do that you can go blind.

13. Before we go to Law business we send a message over. One bloke tells everybody on the station and we all meet in one place. If we going to Jigalong, we send a message across and someone meets you at the boundary and takes you through. So we have to know all the boundaries. We call that yerawadjeli. This is one way I know that the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga country is the same as the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim areas. 

14. In the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim areas we got blackberry fruit we call bathara, we eat as we going along.  You put them in water. White people got a fig, we got one too we call winyalba, grows in hills. Kulyu is our wild potato. 

15. Another one we grind on rock to make damper – seeds of janaby grass we call kundanmurra. Another one, stink bush. Even mulga, you grind those seeds. We know where there are plenty of grindstones. We leave then where the old people put them.

16. We like to catch emu, yalibiri, or turkey, badura, and goanna with a dog, spear or gun. It’s all tucker. That’s our meat we have been reared up with on the claim areas. We pick up emu eggs and turkey eggs in the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim areas. Prairie Downs, Bulloo Downs to Kumarina is good country for emus but we don’t kill hen birds in the laying season.

17. I was taught Law for the whole of Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one country.  While I was working on the stations and since then, wherever I go into the claim areas I look after the country in the way that I was taught and maybe say something in language or do something to make the bugada, or spirits, of that place happy.

18. From the northern part of the claim area across Prairie Downs and through Pingandy when the world was soft the walu, jilla or snake, left a trail where he went into the springs. At Budjinjana Creek not far from Kumarina, there’s a lot of painting and a spring where the walu travelled. Old people told me about the places where the walu went in the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim areas and in our Law it is my responsibility to look after these places.

19. We have songs about the places through the claim areas and sacred objects hidden through the claim areas which only initiated men can see. 
20. The bugada protect special places and visit people in their dreams to give them songs and dances. By performing these songs and dances and other rituals near where the bugada belong, we help to make them happy, and the country happy.  I know if I look after the country, and do the things that will make the bugada happy, the bugada will look after me.

21. I try to teach the young people I have reared up what they are supposed to do to keep the bugada happy in the Nharnuwangga Wadjari and Ngarlawangga number one claim areas, how to sing the songs for the claim areas and dance like the old people taught me.
Statement by Gladys Leake.

1. I am a senior elder of the Nharnuwangga Wajari and Ngarlawangga people. My Ngarlawangga name is Ajayi and I was born at Bandabanda on Prairie Downs station where my parents were working for a white man named Brumby Leake. My father was Tiger Leake, or Yaramiri, and my mother was Annie Leake, or Nyigungga. 

2. My mother and father spoke Ngarlawangga. My grandfather was old Tunibaja, father of Tiger Leake. I had two sisters, Mavey and Amy, who were born on Bulloo Downs, which is in the Nharnuwangga Wajari and Ngarlawangga number one native title claim areas. They stopped with my father’s aunty, old Gayinirri at Bulloo Downs.

3. Maggie, or Bardagarba, and her husband Monkey, or Bidiyarngu, who were both senior Ngarla people, reared me up at Prairie Downs. We lived in a bough shed at Prairie Downs. 

4. Old Kitty Mirrirru, who was Clarrie Smith’s grandmother, would look after us kids at Law meetings. She would tell us where we can go, where we can’t go.  We would meet my father’s family, the Peak Hill mob, at Jibun and Kumarina meeting camps. 
5. Maggie’s country was around Spearhole Creek south to Jibuwan-Kumarina, this side of Yanari Pool, Bulloo Downs and back to Prairie Downs at Mirulan Hill, all in the Nharnuwangga Wajari and Ngarlawangga number one claim area. 

6. The old people taught me how to find kulyu (sweet potato), ngarlgu (wild onion), kalgula (bush apple), thubugu (like beans) that grow in the claim area. Maggie taught me to dig right down for jogorda (honey ants). To make medicine for our chest we boil up gum from the bloodwood tree, we boil up birungu for flu and leaf from nyidi tree to wash itchy skin for infections. At Bandabanda, where I was born, you see kulyu everywhere after rain. 

7. We went mustering wild cattle right through the northern claim area up to Weeli Wolli Creek, Blue Pool and down to Bulloo Downs working for Brumby Leake, who was the boss of Prairie Downs. We call Brumby Leake mabaji (grandfather). He spoke Ngarla too.

8.  We used to go through the northern claim area right up to Weeli Wolli, that’s the time we used to look for rain. We would go to a pool, chuck rock or anything, sing I want rain, make it cool: ‘Yindidjmulla winnu bagala naga winnu.’ When we throw something into a permanent pool, the walu smells us and when we sing out, he can understand our language. In the claim area you got to be careful around Yinda, where there is permanent springs.

9. Old people tell us you don’t go where people have a meeting. When we were working at Prairie Downs, Brumby Leake and his boys go to these places and we women used to stay back. Our boss didn’t make us go, he understood Law business.

10. I had a ‘give away’ traditional marriage to Clarrie Smith’s brother, Vernon. I went droving and worked at Landor, Mount Augustus, Mount James, Mount Vernon, Sherwood and Pingandy for five years, which is the western part of the claim area, when Pingandy was owned by Captain Scott. My old husband used to teach me the special places and where the meeting camps were.
11. In 1999, I gave evidence about Nharnuwangga Wajari and Ngarlawangga country to Judge Madgwick of the Federal Court at a hearing on Prairie Downs station. On a survey at Prairie Downs we went up in a helicopter and I told the anthropologist about the country. Adam Standard came to help me look after walu places. Old people said we got to help each other look after the land. Adam’s father was a Ngarlawangga man born at Jeralbi on Prairie Downs when they had a meeting camp long time back. 
Appendix II

List of Ngarlawonga claimants

1.Adam Standard

2.Albert Smith
3.Anthony Hyland

4.Anthony Limerick

5.April Hyland

6.Celeste Hubert

7.Charlie Hyland

8.Clarence Smith

9.Clarrie Smith

10.Damien Hubert

11.Daniel Limerick

12.Dianne Limerick

13.Dianne Smith 

14.Dinny Tumbler

15.Donald Limerick

16.Gladys Leake

17.Jane Hyland

18.Jason Hyland

19.Joseph Limerick

20. Scott James

21.Kendrick James

22.Kenneth Hyland

23.Lennard Smith

24.Lionel Hyland

25.Lizzie Clarke

26.Maisie Hyland

27.Megan Hyland

28.Michael Hyland

29.Michelle Hubert

30.Monica Waters

31.Narissa Hubert

32.Norma James

33.Norman Hyland

34.Peter Limerick

35.Raylene Smith

36.Ruth Limerick

37.Simone Hubert

38.Stephen Hyland

39.Tadgee Limerick

40.Tanya Limerick

41.Trevina Hicks

42.KelmanLimerick 

43.Willy Chubby

44. Matthew Limerick

APPENDIX III

Some historical evidence supporting Ngarlawonga claims

When the owner of Prairie Downs station was investigated for employing Aborigines without a permit, the Inspector of Aborigines wrote to the Protector on September 17, 1927, concerning Spider, Walgie, Roger, Polly, Possum and Bobby who were working on Prairie Downs, ‘to move these natives to Peak Hill would be taking them out of their country’. He continued, ‘Turee is the only reasonable centre, that is if the above would leave Brumby’s station which I doubt, but they speak the same language and would be at home.’ Amongst those listed as workers and dependants on Turee in 1927 were Duck and his two wives Topsy and Biddy (Bidgie), ‘Koombie’ aged eight, Tumbler and Minnie – all Ngarla people identified by Dinny Tumbler as close relatives of his (Duck was his grandfather and Topsy his grandmother).

Writing of Bulloo Downs, the Inspector of Aborigines noted:

Bulloo Downs natives are friendly, but they speak a different dialect, there is some similarity, they [Prairie Downs people] would not go there … Bulloo Downs indigents have been instructed to go to Mundi Windi, that is part of their country.

Some years later, in 1934, Joe Maguire, the owner of Turee Creek station suggested there was a tribal boundary through Bulloo Downs station when he wrote to the Chief Protector (acc no 993, item 207/1927) concerning Bulloo Downs people:

If they belong to the Ashburton fall on Bulloo Downs they would readily come here for rations, but if they belong to the inland waters, probably Muniwindi would be the best place to send them, as they would be among their own tribe there.

Apparently, Roger went to Bulloo Downs and died from a fatal spear wound on March 27, 1928.
 The case provides documentary evidence of a northern culture block from surrounding language groups which met each year for ceremonies. On this occasion, Roger, listed above as being on Turee, was speared at such a gathering.
 On August 30, 1928, a station hand from Bulloo Downs, Carlu, gave a statement which lists some of the regions represented: ‘About Carbru time (end of wet weather in summer) Mulga Downs, Ashburton, Turee Creek, Rocklea, and Bulloo Downs natives were corrobborreeing [sic] at Murrabooken Claypan.’
 The police add the participants came ‘from Ashburton, Hamersley, Rocklea, Turee, Mt Vernon, Mulga Downs Stns.’

The accused, ‘Micky alias Chilbar’, the half-brother of Roger’s wife, indicated the different language groups which attended: 

I am a station hand, I remember about three or four weeks after last xmas, I went to Mundi Windi for a holiday, there were several other natives there, we had several coroborees [sic]. We camped for about a month at Mundi Windi… When I speared Roger there were about sixty natives in the camp. I only knew some of them… There were about twenty natives from Three Rivers Station near Peak Hill whom I did not know; Also several others from different places.’

In 1925, police investigated a complaint against Spider and Walgie made by the owner of Prairie Downs station, Albert ‘Brumby’ Leake, which involve ancestors of the present Ngarlawonga group. In 1926, Constable Edgar Morrow (1984:143) with Brumby Leake from Prairie Downs, pursued the two men to Marillana Station in the north. Morrow graphically describes his route through what is now the UCL area to the north of Prairie Downs to the Weeli Wolli Creek. While the pursuers rested at ‘Willy Wolly’ springs, Leake suggested ‘that the natives would be at Pug Well, fifteen miles farther on, and five miles from Marrilana [sic] Station’. Morrow continues:
 ‘It’s a big corroborree [sic] place,’ he said, ‘and it’s pinkeye time now, so likely there’ll be a crowd camped there.’
 

The above description confirms that the only feasible cross-country route from Prairie Downs to Pug Well crosses the UCL and follows the pass through the ranges at Weeli Wolli. After being arrested, Walgie alias Harry, aged 30 years, began his statement, ‘My country is around Brumby Leake’s place, Prairie Downs.’ Gunaba alias Spider also stated, ‘My country is around Prairie Downs, Brumby Leake’s place, I work for him.’ The two men were brought before the Meekatharra court on January 22, 1926 and sentenced to six months hard labour in Fremantle Gaol.
 

Following this investigation, evidence was given of Leake allegedly inteferring with a 13-year-old Aboriginal girl at Prairie Downs. ‘Cunie’ alias ‘Gracie’ stated that: ‘I stay on Prairie Downs from time I was a picanny [sic] baby. My father is “Dan” abo[riginal] native, and mother is “Topsy” both work Prairie Downs’.
 ‘Gracie’ was sent to Moore River Settlement, as had occurred to another young girl from Prairie Downs named Daisy, following an earlier charge of carnal knowledge against Brumby Leake. The Daily Telegraph reported on April 9, 1926, that ‘owing to the unreliability of the evidence and the absence of proof of the girl’s age, the bench dismissed the case.’ In May 1926, the Chief Protector wrote suggesting that Walgie, due to be released from prison, be given permission to marry Cunie, still at Moore River. Cunie is a Ngarlawonga ancestor who later returned to the area.
 Under a different name, ‘Daisy’ also returned (see Morgan xxxx 110-114). 

Constable Ed Morrow reported from Peak Hill Police Station on 15 February 1927 that Leake’s permit to employ Aborigines had been withdrawn and ‘ten or twelve’ old people had no where to go. He noted that, ‘The country around Prairie Downs is their country’.

Shortly after these events, in 1927, the author Katharine Susannah Prichard stayed on Turee Creek station and began her research for the novel, Coonardoo, published in 1929. According to Modjeska (1990:vii), ‘From her time at Turree station, [Prichard] wrote Coonardoo, a play called Brumby Innes, which opened to a corroboree, and two of her best short stories, “Happiness” and “The Cooboo”’. The foreword to Coonardoo (Prichard 1929:v) states: ‘the story was written in the country through which it moves. Facts, characters, incidents, have been collected, related and interwoven’; however, Prichard continues, ‘The Coonardoo I knew and used to ride with, for instance is not the gin whose life-story has been told’. Prichard adds, ‘Geary exists, although the Aborigines Department has dealt with him lately’. 

In her award-winning play, Brumby Innes, Prichard was clearly referring to the charges laid against the manager of Prairie Downs in 1926 involving Cunie, Spider and Wilgie during the author’s stay on Turee Creek Station. Prichard (cited in Throssell 1974:xiv) notes in a letter from Turee Creek:

I’ve done a play to be called ‘The Brumby’, or ‘Brumby _______’ somebody or other. The real thing is here. His name is Leake. It fits so – ‘Brumby Leake’. And I’ve got to find one that won’t run me for libel.

Prichard (1974:51) claims the two songs in written in an Aboriginal language in Act 1 of Brumby Innes are ‘authentic fragments in an ancient language of the Gnulloonga tribe. Words of the narloo corroboree are in a local dialect’. The linguist, Carl von Brandenstein (1974a:101), notes that Prichard’s ‘Gnulloonga tribe’ ‘becomes in modern transcription Ngaala-warnga, meaning the language (warnga) which uses the word ngaala to express the pronoun “this”’.  Brandenstein (1974a:101) claims that the ‘tribe using the Ngaala dialect’ is known to linguists as the ‘South Pandjima’ and that Turee Creek station is ‘in the heart of South Pandjima territory.’ Brandenstein is able to translate the songs used by Prichard in her play as being in Banyjima and Palyku languages.
 However, Brandenstein (1974b:105-107) lists more than seventy Ngarlawonga words in an appendix titled, ‘Glossary of Aboriginal words in Ngaala-warngga occurring in Brumby Innes’.

A report to the Chief Protector of Aborigines in 1935 mentions ‘Wanguna alias Duck’ of Turee and ‘Billy the Sport’ (who was married to Duck’s daughter, ‘Coombie’) as witnesses to an alleged incident at Bulloo Downs involving the manager.
 Duck is Dinny Tumbler’s grandfather and Billy is his step-father. 

Another dramatic case in the police records involves ancestors of the Ngarlawonga group. On 28 April, 1942, ‘Bodadarry @ Nugget’ was accused of putting poison in chewing tobacco. He stated to police: ‘I have been on Rocklea Station nearly all my life; The boss there pay me one pound a week wages. Long time ago last year there was a big corroboree at Turee Creek Station and a lot of natives from Rocklea went over to it…’

On 13 March, 1942, the manager of Turee Creek, J J Maguire, wrote, ‘Towards the end of last July there was a big Corroboree held here by Natives from adjoining stations and from the desert; Their corroborees are usually held here.’

A statement by Jerrewing
 lists some of the men who attended. He said, 

‘I am a Rocklea native and have lived there all my life. I went to Turee Station about the middle of last year with Bodadarry, William (One Eyed Bill), Rueben, Alex, Old Bobby, and Jack (half caste) for Pinki [ceremonies]. Tumbler [Ngarla] and his woman Cuboo [Ngarla] were at the camp. Bobadarry had his woman Mummy, with him.’

The above ethno-historical record supports the Ngarlawonga people’s claim to be the traditional owners of the unclaimed shaded areas in Map1. That is, Prairie Downs, Bulloo Downs south to the Ashburton River and the unclaimed section of Turree Creek Station.

APPENDIX IV

Letter to Jidi Jidi members

This correspondence originated from the

 FORMCHECKBOX 
 HEAD OFFICE   FORMCHECKBOX 
 PERTH OFFICE  

15 November 2002
Your Ref
     

Our Ref
NWN001corr
[NAME & ADDRESS]
Dear Member

welcome to the jidi jidi aboriginal corporation
Thank you for your application for membership to the Jidi Jidi Aboriginal Corporation.

I am pleased to advise that your application was accepted at the Annual General Meeting on 1 November 2002.

Please find enclosed a copy of the minutes of the AGM for your records.

What is the Jidi Jidi Aboriginal Corporation?

The Jidi Jidi Aboriginal Corporation is the body responsible for holding native title on trust for the members of the Nharnuwangga, Wajarri and Ngarla community.  It is also the trustee for the Nharnuwangga, Wajarri and Ngarla community benefits fund.

What are my rights as a member?

As a member of the corporation, you have the right:

· To have your name entered on the register of members;

· To attend, speak and vote at general meetings; 

· To stand for a position on the governing committee; 

· To receive notice of meetings in accordance with the rules; 

· To inspect the register of members at all reasonable times; 

· To inspect a copy of the annual financial statements and the examiner's report at the annual general meeting if they wish to see them, or at any other reasonable time;

· To be heard if there is a special general meeting called for the purpose of determining whether a member should be expelled from membership of the corporation; and 

· To request a special general meeting in accordance with the rules if aggrieved.

What are my obligations as member?

As a member, you are obliged: 

· To choose a governing committee that will properly run the corporation and represent the members equally and fairly; and 
· To permit meetings of the corporation to be conducted in a peaceful manner and to abide by the rulings of the corporation.
Any Questions?

The Governing Committee members of the Corporation for 2002-2003 are:

Adeline Gilla

Stanley Hill

Annette Riley

Connie Riley

Georgina Riley

Linda Riley

Timothy Riley

Gary Robinson

Rosalyn Robinson

Albert Smith

Leonard Smith

If you would like to raise any matter for discussion at a Governing Committee meeting, please contact one of these people.

The Yamatji Land and Sea Council has granted assistance to the Jidi Jidi Aboriginal Corporation in relation to native title matters.  If you have any queries about native title, please do not hesitate to contact me on 9225 4644.

Yours faithfully

frances flanagan
legal officer
�Photo a) Dinny at Turee Creek homestead with Darren Injie. 


Photo b)Old yard at Alfred Carney’s station on the border of Nyiyaparli and Ngarlawonga country.


� The draft affidavits have been read and reread to the individuals who gave them. The documents remained unsigned while lawyers considered the implications of recent court decisions.


� Letter from Traditional Owners to Bruce Larson, Rio Tinto Limited, ‘Without prejudice’, 20 August 2003.


� The memorandum notes: ‘The evidence … is presently subject to confidentiality orders from the judge that it is not to be used in any other matter. It may be possible to make and application to the court to vary these orders…’ 


� Under the NWN determination, there is no distinction between the three groups. 


� Some Ngarlawonga members have one Innawonga parent or grandparent. At present there is no specifically Ngarlawonga claim registered. Ngarlawonga interests in the eastern GMY area have been recognised in heritage surveys when Ngarlawonga claimants have often been nominated as consultants around the West Angelas project.


� Ruby is the mother of Clarrie Smith, Djangai Smith (dec), Tadgee Hyland and Vernon Hyland (dec). She spoke Ngarlawonga and was accepted as Ngarla, although her mother Kitty was a Peak Hill Nhanuwonga woman. All her children, though with three different fathers (see genealogies), were ‘reared up’ as Ngarlawonga.


� Index to Mana Waite’s field notes by Alex Shaw, 28 July 2000 (subpoenaed). Roy Tommy (GMY claim), Winston Parker (MIB claim) and Gordon Yuline (Nyiyaparli) are two men who attended this meeting. 


� See above footnote.


� Dinny Tumbler to Mana Waite.


� Waite, quoting the late senior Banyjima elder, Horace Parker on February 7, 1999.


� The evidence gathered by the ALS for the NWN claim would be very useful for researching a Ngarlawonga claim if permission to access these records can be obtained.


� This unclaimed area was known as ‘NWN#2’ and is now known as the ‘Gingarana’ claim, to the east of the Great Northern Highway.


� Statement by Inspector Leen, Nullagine, September 1, 1928. Acc. No. 430, item no./3254/1928


� Roger’s wife Polly is listed as being on Bulloo Downs by 1928 (letter from J P Morrissey of Bulloo Downs to E Morrow cited in police report no.1320, August 2, 1928).  


� File no.3254/1928 Statement of � HYPERLINK "mailto:Cungiebury@Carlu" ��Cungiebury alias Carlu� of Bulloo Downs.


� Statement by Inspector Leen, Nullagine, September 1, 1928. Acc. No. 430, item no./3254/1928


� File no.3254/1928 Statement by Micky alias Chilbar. Onslow, 21/10/28.  


� See also handwritten report by Constable Morrow, Meekatharra 22/1/26. File 8446/1925.


� Pug Well was used as a Law Ground until the 1950s and is known as Pindagully.


� Letter from Sergeant Notley of Meekatharra to Inspector Simpson Acc 430, item 8446/1925. Letter from E Morrow to Srgt Notley. Acc 430, item 8446/1925.


� Statement of ‘Cunie’ alias ‘Gracie’, 21/1/26. Acc no.430. Item no.8446/1925. See also Heydon (1994:62-3).


� Letter from Chief inspector of Aborigines to Inspector of Aborigines May 19, 1926.


� ‘Old and indigent natives at Prairie Downs station’. Report by E Morrow, Peak Hill Police Station, February 15, 1927.


� Thomas (Brandenstein and Thomas 1974:ix) states: ‘Many songs in one language are studded with prestige words from the others. It is a mark of status for an Aboriginal to know as many neighbouring languages as possible’.


� Letter from Inspector of Aborigines, Albert Davis to Chief Protector of Aborigines, October 2, 1935. Acc. No. 993, item no.207/1927.


� Roy Tommy’s step father. 
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